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INTRODUCTION

Only a brief word of introduction need be writ-
ten. First Friends Church of Cleveland has a his-
tory of genuine interest to many. The data which
these pages contain could have been gathered, put
into intelligible form, and made most valuable to
the reader only by one intimately acquainted with
the personalities and events of the years. Such a
person has been found in the writer, Mrs. Nellie
S. Waterbury. Her long membership and active
interest in this meeting provide a background of
understanding of the events which the book sets
forth. She is well fitted for her task by native abil-
ity as well as by Divine grace. Mrs. Waterbury is
at present an elder in this meeting.

The thoughtful, prayerful reader will peruse
these pages to rejoice in God’s goodness to His peo-
ple in this city during past years; then, out of this
record, he will seek to learn valuable lessons to fit
him better for his share in the Lord’s work now
and in future days.

WALTER ROLLIN WILLIAMS.

The Parsonage,
14615 Shaw Ave.,
East Cleveland, Ohio.

September 2, 1937.
-



FOREWORD
1871—1937

There are a few of us who can look back and
remember the beginnings of First Friends Church
of Cleveland, Ohio, and together we have stood
throughout the years; there have been peculiar ties
of friendship that have bound us; each year has
brought its quota of joys and sorrows, victories and
defeats; but never have we allowed our joys to elate
us beyond measure and never have we hidden be-
hind defeat and refused to go forward, Have we had
at times some differences of opinion? Yes, a few.
Have we sometimes erred in judgment? Many
times. Has enthusiasm ever carried us too far?
Perhaps. But ever the Holy Spirit has faithfully
fulfilled His office in encouraging or checking and
working out His divine will in us.

It is sweet to reminisce, but the time has surely
come when some records convenient for reference
should be compiled. In the following pages an at-
tempt has been made to give a brief outline and a
few outstanding points concerning the history of this
church.

Many things of great interest (at least to the
older members) have been omitted, and it may be
that some things of less interest have been record-
ed. If in the writing there is some ambiguity, or if

il



some misstatements have been made, we ask the
reader’s forbearance.

We thank all who have contributed information
without which this writing would not have been
attempted.

NELLIE S. WATERBURY.

Cleveland, Ohio.
1937.
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“Salem Monthly Meeting of Women Friends, held
Sixth month 22nd, 1871—Lydia H. Haviland, Mary
Ann Horner, Abigail B. Kelley, Sarah Coburn and
Sibyl Street are appointed to unite with a similar
committee of men Friends on the request from
Friends at Cleveland for the establishment of Meet-
ings there.” This request was forwarded to the en-
suing Quarterly Meeting held Eighth month, 1871,
and the judgment of the Monthly Meeting was ap-
proved. The committee at a later date reported the
“opening of a meeting for worship on First day,
ninth month, 21st, 1871, at 10:30 A. M., and a Pre-
parative Meeting on Fourth day of ninth month,
27th, at 7:30 P. M., to be known by the name of
“Cleveland Meeting.” Hester G. Terrell and Cath-
erine Hammond were appointed Overseers of Cleve-
land Preparative Meeting;, and Jane Pettit was ap-
pointed clerk.

Building the Meeting House

A Preparative Meeting now being established,
the time had come when a Meeting House should be
built. This was probably in the spring of 1875. An
appropriation of $756.00 was made by Salem Quar-
terly Meeting to assist Cleveland Friends in build-
ing. James Farmer, a conservative counselor, was
appointed chairman of the committee, and the great-
er part of the burden, financial and otherwise, fell
upon him. “He was president of the Cleveland and
Pittsburgh Railroad, The Valley Railroad, State
National Bank, Ohio National Bank, etc. These, by
no means, comprise all the services James Farmer
rendered to the city and to the state.”—From Mem=
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OUR FIRST MEETING HOUSE
This building was remodeled three times.



oirs of James and Meribah Farmer, written by
their daughter, Lydia Ethel Farmer Painter.

Plans were made and after careful search the
committee found a location not too near the center
of town on Cedar Avenue opposite Blair Street
(33rd) which was suited to their needs, and,
through the gift of a Mr. Hussey (no more data
could be obtained) the lot was purchased. This was
an outlying district but accessible by horse-car.

Cedar Avenue was not paved at the time and
the hard dirt road, fringed by shade trees, made it
seem like the residential section of a thriving coun-
try village or town. The neat white houses with
green blinds and latticed porches, vine-covered,
were attractive. Here and there more pretentious
brick houses stood in friendly relation adding dig-
nity, and the neighborhood seemed quite in keeping
with the little church te be erected.

The committee proceeded with the plans and
the Meeting House was built—a plain brick struc-
ture with stone steps leading to the main entrance.
Sheds in the rear accommodated the horses and
carriages of the few families who lived at a distance.
A rather formidable iron fence with gates fastened
by padlock and key enclosed the premises.

In the building the center aisle led to a raised
platform on which was a small library table with
two “facing seats” on either side. On one side at the
“head of the Meeting” sat James Farmer, David
Tatum, Albert French, Alton Pope and James Lang-
staff. On the opposite corresponding high seat sat
Meribah Farmer, Hannah Tatum, Jane Pettit, Sarah
Langstaff and, perhaps, others. In other part of
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the house men and women were not separated as
bhad been the custom among Friends a few years
previously, but sat in families.

There was no “hired ministry,” but as they
were “moved” and the “Spirit gave them utterance”
holy men and women proclaimed the Word in ex-
position or admonition. There was no instrumental
music, but as one felt led, a hymn might be sung,
perhaps others joining.

There was no clock; but when the time arrived
for meeting to “break” (how could he tell?) James
Farmer would quietly turn to his left and shake
hands with his neighbor. The hand-shaking would
pass down the line of elderly men on the high seat,
and on the elderly women’s side in the same order,
then hand-shaking throughout the congregation fol-
lowed which made for a spirit of fellowship. After
these greetings and an exchange of mutual good
wishes Friends would quietly leave the Meeting
House, many walking to their homes which were in
the immediate neighborhood.

—if—



CuapTER II
J. WALTER MALONE COMES TO CLEVELAND

In the year 1880 there came to the Meeting a
young man named J. Walter Malone. He was a
birthright member of the Society of Friends and
deeply spiritual. He at once identified himself with
the Meeting and became keenly interested especial-
ly in the children and young people of the neigh-
borhood. He had a pleasing personality and en-
deared himself to all with whom he came in con-
tact.

J. Walter Malone found no difficulty in secur-
ing cooperation among the young people of the
neighborhood. They entered the church, were con-
verted, and at once began a campaign to get others
saved. Among these young people was one pecu-
liarly loved and who sometimes was called “the lit-
tle mother of the young people.” This was Emma
Isabel Brown, of Quaker parentage. She, too, was
especially fitted for leadership. As these two work-
ed together in the common interests of the church,
their friendship sweetly ripened into love and they
were united in marriage in 1886.

Esther and Nathan Frame Hold Revival Meetings

Before coming to Cleveland J. Walter Malone
had been greatly blessed and renewed at a revival
service conducted by Esther and Nathan Frame in
New Vienna, Ohio, and through his earnest request
in Third month, 1882, Esther and Nathan Frame,



both ministers, were invited to hold a series of meet-
ings in the little Quaker Meeting House. Some of
the older Friends, although they saw the need of a
revival among the members, were concerned re-
garding this method, as meetings of this character
had never been conducted in the Meeting House.
Their fears, however, were groundless, for many
were converted and the membership was greatly
augmented. Esther Frame was gracious and dig-
nified in bearing and her labors were acceptable to
the Meeting.

The order of worship had continued the same
during these first years, that is, under the direct
leadership of the Holy Spirit as individuals were
led—the pastoral system not yet having been adopt-
ed. J. Walter Malone, believing the time had come
when a pastor wotld supply a need in the Meeting,
asked for a change of policy which was granted by
the older Friends, and Esther and Nathan Frame
were invited to remain as pastors and were with the
Meeting for about six months, their temporal needs
being supplied. The eall, however, being upon them
both for general evangelistic work, they left for oths
er fields of labor.

Monthly Meeting Established

In 1883 Cleveland Friends requested the es-
tablishment of a Monthly Meeting. Upon the first
page of the then new Monthly Meeting record book
is found a minute which retds in part as follows: —
“This Meeting is informed by the minutes of Salem
Monthly Meeting that Cleveland Preparative Meet-
ing requests the establishment of a Monthly Meet-
ing, which being deliberately considered, we do now
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set up and establish a Monthly Meeting to be known
as Cleveland Monthly Meeting of Friends as a
branch and subordinate to Salem Quarterly Meet-
ing—said Meeting to be held on the Fourth day fol-
lowing the second Seventh day in each month. Tak-
en from the minutes of Salem Quarterly Meeting
of Friends held Second month 8th, 1883. Signed,
Isaac W. Johnson and Anna Jane Johnson: clerks.”

Some of the first standing committees for the
new Monthly Meeting were appointed as follows: —

Clerks Pastoral Committee
Warwick Price James Farmer
Huldah Gaskell James Malone

Treasurer Meribah Farmer
L. Harrison Malone Emma I. Brown
Auditing Committee Temperance
James Farmer Commiittee
L. Harrison Malone William Schleicher

Elder Dora Girard

Phoebe Ann Brown Home Missionary
Finance Committee Board

Dr. O. L. Olds J. Kirk Russell

George McGonigal J. Walter Malone

J. Walter Malone Dora Girard

Margaret Brown James Malone

Alice Jones Carrie Brown

Dora Girard Florence Brown

Dr. Dougan Clark, a minister of Ohio Yearly
Meeting, with a sojourning minute was invited to
be at liberty in bringing gospel messages. Dougan
Clark was greatly esteemed and for several months
the Meeting was edified by his ministry.
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Esther and Nathan Frame, Pastors

On First month, 1st, 1885, Esther and Nathan
Frame returned to Cleveland to accept the pastor-
ate of the Meeting. The revival spirit had continued
through these intervening years largely under the
leadership of J. Walter Malone. Nathan Frame was
called away on some personal affairs but Esther
Frame remained until the close of the year and then
owing to ill health was obliged to resign.

In 1899 a successful revival was conducted by
Esther and Nathan Frame and many years later in
their declining years they were again with the Meet-
ing. Esther Frame had greatly endeared herself to
the membership of the Meeting.



Cuapter III
JOHN T. DORLAND

John T. Dorland, a minister, came to Cleveland
in First month, 1886, to attend the marriage of J.
Walter Malone and Emma Isabel Brown, and by in-
vitation remained, accepting the pastorate of the
Meeting—later being joined by his wife and young
daughter. ’

On the fifteenth of Seventh month, 1886, he ob-
tained a sojourning minute from West Lake Month-
ly Meeting, Canada, and remained in Cleveland un-
til the end of the year. His last address was given
on Christmas Day, 1886. He then returned to Can-
ada to make preparation for his anticipated trip to
England to which for nearly five years he had felt
the Lord calling.

John Dorland was a valued servant of God,
and as one said, “His life was like a bugle note of
victory for the church of Christ.” Ten years later
the Meeting was grieved to learn of John Dorland’s
death, then a young man thirty-six years of age.

Alfred Brown, a minister with a sojourning
minute from Wilmington Monthly Meeting dated
Eleventh month, 15, 1888, had served the Meeting
acceptably and was invited to remain as pastor for
the year beginning Eighth month, 15, 1889. After
a year and a half of faithful service, owing to ill
health, Alfred Brown offered his resignation.

Rufus P. King, a minister with a sojourning
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minute from North Carolina, then spent some time
ministering to the Meeting.

David J. Lewis served the Meeting as pastor
during the summer of 1893, and his ministry being
acceptable and profitable the Meeting extended an
invitation to him to remain as the Lord directed. A
committee was appointed to have care of his financi-
al needs.

Sorrow came into the Meeting Third month,
17th, 1891, at the announcement of the death of
James Farmer, an elder, in his nintieth year. Upon
the minute book is a memorial testifying to the
beauty of his Christian life and character as seen in
his walk and conversation, as well as his personal
testimony to the saving power of Christ. The me-
morial expresses gratitude to God that he was pre-
served to a ripe old age and that the Meeting had
been privileged for many years to look to him as a
safe adviser in the administration of the government
of the church.

A few years later, on Fourth month, 4th, 1896,
the Meeting was called upon to prepare a memorial
for Meribah Farmer, a minister, who in her 93rd
year had been called to the life beyond. She, too,
had occupied a plaee in the Meeting not to be filled
by another. She exercised her gift in the ministry
acceptably to her friends and was ever watchful
over the eternal interests of the Church.

These two were considered the founders of
Cleveland Meeting. The beautiful portraits of James
and Meribah Farmer, which hang in the present
church building, were presented to the Meeting by
their daughter, Mrs. Lydia Painter, in the year 1900.
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CuaprTER IV

CLEVELAND BIBLE INSTITUTE
1892

In the decade 1890-1900 there was a series of
cutside activities which have been inserted here in
an endeavor to keep the records in as near a chron-
ological order as possible, though the continuity of
thought may be at fault.

J. Walter and Emma B. Malone, ever zealous
to spread the gospel in its purity, and realizing that
unbelief in the holy scriptures through destructive
criticism was growing more prevalent, a great con-
cern for the faith of the coming generation was laid
upon their hearts and with a vision of conditions,
they bowed humbly before the Lord asking his di-
vine will.

When the thought was presented to their minds,
“A Christian Training School for Young People,”
they wondered that God had chosen them for such
work as certainly they felt their insufficiency, but
through faith and dependence upon God they began
to make plans.

On third month, 17th, 1892, a small house on
Sibley Street near the church was rented and thor-
oughly renovated from attic to cellar by the young
people of the church under the supervision of Sophie
Burgy (Hasenpflug) and Elsie Henson (Malle).

As a little side light this note is made. Walter
and Emma had been praying that some might feel
the urge to come, thus sealing their call to this spe-



cial work and yet they feared lest the house be too
small to accommodate those who might come and
so they prayed in child-like faith, “Oh Lord, please
don’t let but six come”. And who shall say it was
a coincidence? But six came! Three young married
couples.

Twice in the next four years it was found neces-
sary to move to larger quarters. This hampered the
work of the school and it was realized for effective
service a permanent building was needed.

Looking forward and planning for this need, J.
Walter Malone presented to the Monthly Meeting
held First month, 14th, 1897, the subject of erecting
a permanent building—no house in the vicinity of
the church being found available.

The trustees and building committee were au-
thorized to secure a loan of five thousand dollars
($5,000.00) on the church property, and with the
money and pledges on hand were encouraged to go
forward and build, trusting the Lord to furnish suf-
ficient means to complete the building. The build-
ing was completed in due time and on Eighth month,
17th, 1899, a most encouraging report was given.
The aggregate enrollment for the two years was one
hundred and thirty-six.

It is not in the province of these pages to write
a history of Cleveland Bible Institute. That in itself
would require a volume. Down through the years
the work has continued to grow until from six stu-
dents in 1892 the report comes in 1936 of five hun-
dred and sixty-one graduates having completed the
entire prescribed courses, which does not include
the total number of students enrolled for part time.

—18—



The school has ever been considered the child
of the church through the unceasing toil of J. Walter
and Emma B. Malone. As the health of these, His
children, failed, others zealous and faithful have
continued the work committed to their care.

The school was incorporated in 1899 under the
name, Friends Bible Institute and Training School.
Some years later it came to be called Cleveland Bi-
ble Institute, and in 1937 the name was again chang-
ed to Cleveland Bible College.

_ The curriculum has been revised from time
to time and from a one year course in the early
days until a four year college course is now offered,
leading to the Bachelor of Theology degree.



CuaprTER V

INDIA MISSION
1892

It was in the year 1892 that Delia Fistler and
Esther Baird received their call and went to India
as missionaries of the gospel.

It4s not our thought to enter into detail of the
“unfolding of the years” in that land. The beautiful
story has been splendidly told by Merrill M. Coffin
in his book, “Friends in Bundelkhand, India,” and
by Esther E. Baird in “Adventuring with God.”

Delia Fistler had been a member of the Meet-
ing since Fifth month, 17th, 1888, and had been in
evangelistic work. Esther E. Baird, a graduate
nurse, had been a member of the Epworth Memor-
ial Church and came to us by letter Ninth month,
16th, 1892,

Having expressed their concern to go to India
and enter mission work, and having been accepted
by the Missionary Board of Ohio Yearly Meeting,
these young women were granted a general minute
signed by the committee in charge: George Henry
Little, Emma B. Malone and Phoebe Ann Brown;
and by the clerks: Frank Stone and Emma I. Gy-
mer.

We remember the farewell meeting that was
held and how our hearts responded. As we looked
upon these young women we thought they exempli-
fied that beautiful statement of Isaiah’s, “Arise,
shine, for thy light is come, and the glory of the
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Lord is risen upon thee.” And so they sailed away
and entered upon their life work.

How deeply we were interested in Nowgong
and Harpalpur and Chhatarpur! How we rejoiced
when we read in their letters of the buildings that
were erected through the years: The Orphanage,
The Mission Bungalow, Louise B. Pierson Memori-
al Chapel, The Dispensary, The Goddard Memorial
Hospital, and others, and then the Woman's Hos-
pital built upon the foundations of tombs and tem-
ples in Chhatarpur!" We were glad to see the pic-
tures of the young Indian workers; we were glad
to know their little adopted boy, Eugene, when he
was brought to the United States to be educated.
We learned to love him. We missed him when he
joined the Princess Pat’s Division in Canada and
went across seas, and we mourned when the news
came, “Killed in action”.

Climate and heavy burdens made inroads up-
on health and there must needs be times for rest
and recuperation. In one of these periods when De-
lia Fistler was home on furlough the Monthly Meet-
ing received a letter from her dated Second month,
1912. In this letter she thanked her Heavenly Fath-
er for bringing her back from the valley of the
shadow of death, with the prospect of a little more
service for Him where the need is so great, and she
thanked the Meeting for undertaking her support
in India. (Just previously the Meeting had decided
to assume her salary of five hundred dollars a year.)
She closed her letter with the testimony: “More
than ever before do I thank God for your fellowship
in love and prayers—and for the comfort of the Holy
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Spirit and His fellowship in my daily life in the
midst of difficulties that only He can understand.”

She returned to the field for a short time, but,
broken in health, was obliged to return to the home-
land where she died at the home of her sister, Emma
Fistler, Eagle Rock, California, Eighth month 6th,
1916.

Esther E. Baird, too, had a serious break-down
and was home at one time for two years and a half.

How well we remember the Yearly Meeting of
1913. (It had been the intention of Friends to com-
memorate the one hundredth anniversary of the
establishment of Ohio Yearly Meeting at Mt. Pleas-
ant in Eighth month, 1912. For certain reasons the
committee in charge delayed the special observances
until the following year.) Edward W. Mott was
presiding clerk and Ralph S. Coppock was record-
ing clerk. The special exercises planned for various
hours passed off pleasantly and profitably. As we
began to anticipate missionary reports there seemed
to be clouds of uncertainty and a feeling of appre-
hension. Edward Mott stood before us and with
very serious air stated that under present financial
conditions some part of our mission work would
have to be discontinued or turned over to some
other mission station, and in all probability it would
be India—that being the younger and smaller work.
We bowed our heads in prayer and left the meet-
ing house under a deep sense of depression seem-
ingly with a lack of faith.

At our next business session we saw at once a
different look upon the face of Edward W. Mott,
and without keeping us in suspense he told us the



wonderful news that the “Women’s Missionary Un-
ion of Friends in America” had offered to pay the
salary of Esther E. Baird under the name of the
“Esther E. Baird Love Fund”, thus enabling us to
continue our work in India.

What rejoicing! Yes really, what shouting!
People with feeble knees and weak voices rose to
their feet and shouted “Amen”; “Praise the Lord”;
“Glory”; loud enough to be heard. All thanks to
the “Women’s Missionary Union”! From then, 1913,
to now, 1937, they have paid “Our own Esther
Baird’s” salary.

“Life work”? Yes truly, Delia Fistler worked
till her frail body could not longer endure and Es-
ther E. Baird, praise the Lord, is still on the field
doing valiant service.



CHAPTER VI

MISSIONS ESTABLISHED

Missions Established at Orchard Grove, Union
Street and Clark Avenue, 1895

On the eighteenth day of Fifth month, 1895, a
lot 40 ft. by 130 ft. on Vineyard Avenue (Orchard
Grove Allotment) was deeded to the First Friends
Church by George and Jennie Hicks.

For a number of years those who were inter-
ested and were living in that vicinity had been per-
mitted the use of the land and a small edifice had
been erected called the Hicks Union Gospel Chapel.

Evening services were held and the pulpit was
supplied with speakers from different denomina-
tions, but this arrangement did not prove entirely
satisfactory and they then asked for speakers from
the Bible Training School just started by Walter and
Emma Malone. This proved a much better ar-
rangement and a meeting of residents of Orchard
Grove was called and it was decided that the work
should be given over to the Friends, and in Ninth
month, 1895, Orchard Grove Preparative Meeting
was established and in the following year Henrietta
Titus was called as pastor.

In 1902 a Monthly Meeting was established to
be known as “South Cleveland Monthly Meeting.”
Encouraging quarterly reports showed progress.
Auxiliary societies were all doing good and faith-
ful work and new members were being added to the

church.
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In 1909 the members of South Cleveland
Monthly Meeting began looking toward a more fa-
vorable location and in 1911 First Friends Meeting
desiring to aid them, authorized the trustees to sell
the land on Vineyard Avenue and give the proceeds
toward acquiring a new location for use as a place
of worship for this new meeting.

South Cleveland was fortunate in securing the
aid of John D. Rockefeller and through his gen-
erosity and a gift of one hundred sixty-eight dol-
lars ($168.00) from First Friends two lots were pur-
chased on Warner Road, and a substantial edifice
was erected. Under the leadership of its various
pastors, South Cleveland grew to be one of the
strong Meetings of Ohio Yearly Meeting. The
church was dedicated Fourth month, 1918, and then,
for the first time entertained Cleveland Quarterly
Meeting.

Mt. Pleasant or Union Street Mission
1897

On Seventh month, 15th, 1897, J. Walter Ma-
lone informed the meeting that there was an open
door for mission work in the neighborhood known
as Mt. Pleasant (east of E. 105th Street near Kins-
man Street) with no churches within two miles in
any direction, and asked the Meeting to appropriate
fifteen dollars ($15.00) to purchase a tent in which
to hold meetings. The request was granted, but the
following month the Meeting was informed that a
small church in the neighborhood in which no ser-
vices were held offered its building with furnish-
ings, such as organ, library, chairs, stove, etc., pro-
vided the building be moved to a new lot. This was
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a gift not to be refused. A satisfactory lot was found
in the neighborhood at the reasonable price of two
hundred dollars ($200.00) with easy payments. The
Meeting united in accepting this as an opening of
the Lord. J. Walter Malone was appointed as chair-
man of the committee to have in charge the Indulged
Meeting at this place, to be called “Union Street
Chapel”, and it was dedicated Tenth month, 10th,
1897. An addition was built in 1898 for the living
quarters for the workers in charge. A good work
continued under William Smith, Otto Martinson,
Jefferson and Helen Ford, Walter Cummins and
others. Fifteen dollars ($15.00) a month was given
by the Meeting for a number of years. In 1911 the
property was sold and the proceeds applied on the
Clark Avenue debt. (Noted later.)

Clark Avenue Mission
1898

About three years after Orchard Grove had
been established as a Preparative Meeting and six
months after the Mt. Pleasant Mission had been
started, the Meeting was informed that the Kings-
ley Mission on Clark Avenue was anxious for the
Friends to take charge of the work at that place. It
was the only English-speaking mission in that Ward
and it seemed to be a desirable location for mission
work. After investigation by a committee appointed
by the Meeting and a report that in their judgment
the outlook for gospel work was promising, the
King’s Sons and Daughters of the Meeting were ap-
pointed to take in charge the work both spiritual
and financial.

On Fourth month, 17th, 1902, the committee-re-



ported its belief that the time was near at hand when
a church edifice should be built for the work in that
community. An unofficial estimate of $2,000 was
made for a building. An option had been secured on
a lot at the corner of Clark Avenue and Clifford
Street valued at $1400 and the first $100 toward the
payment of the same was taken by subscription in
the face of the meeting under the care of William
P. Pinkham and forwarded to Thomas Neff who had
been appointed treasurer of the mission. The Month-
ly Meeting gave $15.00 a month for a number of
years to help the struggling mission.

Much labor was given by different members
of the mission without compensation and the build-
ing progressed, but at times there was much dis-
couragement. Alice Lawrence was the first pastor
and under her ministry and that of Carson and
Verocia Cox and others, the work grew and pros-
pered. A mortgage of $2,000 was placed upon First
Friends' property in order to clear Clark Avenue
of debt. Through the heroic efforts of those most
interested in the work, in time the obligation was
met.

Clark Avenue made request to the Monthly
Meeting in Eighth month, 1912, to be “set aside as
an organized church”. The Meeting expressed be-
lief that with continued earnest efforts the mission
could be placed upon a financial basis that would
warrant the request. Accordingly the proposition
was forwarded to Quarterly Meeting which approv-
ed the action taken by the Monthly Meeting. The
following committee was appointed to “set up” the
meeting to be known as “Clark Avenue Monthly

.



Meeting”—Isaac Stratton, Charles R. Mott, George
Bartlett, Mary Ann Bartlett, Fred Minor and Hen-
rietta Titus. The work continued on Clark Avenue
until 1927 when the neighborhood, becoming so
largely Catholic, a change of location seemed advis-
able and a new church was built in that part of
Cleveland known as West Park, with John D. Graf-
ton as pastor.
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Cuarter VII

WILLIAM P. PINKHAM, JOHN S. RILEY,
CHARLES S. WHITE

1900—1901

On First month, 18th, 1900, removal certificates
were received for William P. Pinkham, a minister,
Emma Pinkham, an elder, and their daughter,
Bertha, a Christian worker from Smithfield Month-
ly Meeting, Rhode Island. William P. Pinkham
came to accept service in the Cleveland Bible In-
stitute and his teaching on Topical Bible Study
formed a distinctive part in the work of the School.
He was a man taught of the Lord, sound in doc-
trine, earnest and faithful in his gift in the ministry
and his many messages to the church throughout
the years of his residence in Cleveland were a valu-
able asset to the Meeting.

In 1908 William P. Pinkham removed to Al-
liance, Ohio, to serve as pastor to the Meeting, then
later was called to Huntington Park, California,
where he established a Bible Training School, and
for many years occupied an important position in
the school.

John S. Riley, a minister, came into the Meet-~
ing in Fifth month, 1900, and with his wife, Nettie
Smalley Riley, served acceptably for eleven months.
Feeling called to return to California, a minute was
granted for labor within the limits of that Yearly
Meeting and such other service as the Lord might
lead. :
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Charles S. White, a minister, and Nellie M.
White, his wife, came to the Meeting with creden-
tials from Oskaloosa Quarterly Meeting and in
Tenth month, 17th, 1901, a call was extended to
Charles S. White to serve the Meeting as associate
pastor. During his pastorate two new Meetings
were formed, one at Wilson’s Mills, through the in-
fluence of O. B. Ong, Third month, 13th, 1902, with
twenty-seven members, and one at Pleasant Valley,
organized by Walter and Ida Baldwin, Sixth month,
19th, 1902, with thirty-eight members. In Eighth
month, 14th, 1902, these two Meetings were estab-
lished as a Monthly Meeting to be known as Cha-
grin Valley Monthly Meeting.

The ministry and pastoral work of Charles S.
White were acceptable to the Meeting, but, owing
to the ill health of his father he felt obliged to return
to Oskaloosa and the invitation to remain another
year as Assistant Pastor was not accepted. Removal
certificates were granted Eighth month, 14th, 1902.
Charles White and wife had gained a high place of
esteem in the Meeting.

Lest there be a misunderstanding in the minds
of some regarding the official relationship which J.
Walter Malone bore to the church in his earlier
years this explanation is made. As Walter and Em-
ma Malone continued so vitally interested in the
Meeting, the young people and the older ones as
well, as the years went by, looked to them for di-
rection, counsel and encouragement, yet no record
is found of their having been engaged as “pastors”
until the year 1908. They served the Meeting freely
giving their time, their strength and their financial
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aid and were recognized as filling a pastoral func-
tion in the Meeting without being so officially desig-
nated.

J. Walter Malone when coming to Cleveland in
1880 had entered business with his two elder broth-
ers in the Malone Stone Company and quite
thoughtlessly, or quite carelessly perhaps, he had
been allowed to assume his own and his growing
family’s support unassisted by the Meeting. It may
be noted that without any explanation from the
minute book the term “assistant pastor” is used in
connection with the engagement of Charles S.
White. This would show that Walter Malone was
recognized as filling a pastoral function in the Meet-
ing though not officially designated.

After Charles S. White had left the Meeting it
was perceived that some of the shut-ins and others
who had, in some way, lost interest and, perhaps,
felt a little neglected, needed to be brought into
closer relationship with the Meeting and it was
thought that a church visitor would help in this
situation.

In First month, 13th, 1903, the Meeting was
fortunate in securing the services of Martha Stan-
ton, a young woman who had served as Deaconess
in the Methodist Church, but after one year of help-
ful service found it her duty to return to her par-
ents’ home in Michigan.
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CuaprTER VIII

FRIENDS’ AFRICA INDUSTRIAL MISSION
1902 '

Willis R. Hotchkiss was used under God as the
pioneer in the Friends’ Africa Industrial Mission.

He united with the First Friends’ Church,
Eighth month 17, 1893, and his gift in the ministry
was recognized, Fifth month 16, 1895. .

In 1895 the burden which he felt for Africa’s
needs became so heavy that he left his evangelistic
work here and went to British East Africa. Four
years later he returned to America and together
with Arthur B. Chilson and William M. Smith ex-
pressed a deep religious concern for the work of the
F. A 1. M., and so stirred the church by his appeals
for Africa that as a result a Board was incorporated
February 18, 1902, composed of two delegates from
each of ten Yearly Meetings. Arrangements were
made to send three Friends to Africa.

The primary object of the Friends’ Africa In-
dustrial Mission was the evangelization of the
heathen. The industrial feature was introduced to
teach them habits of industry and, ultimately, to
establish a self-supporting native Christian Church.

The prospecting party chosen consisted of Wil-
lis R. Hotchkiss, a minister, Edgar T. Hole, an elder,
and Arthur B. Chilson, a minister. Willis R. Hotch-
kiss and Edgar T. Hole each had a wife and infant
child.
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Farewell services were observed Fourth month
13, 1902, both morning and evening.

Charles S. White, associate pastor, spoke a few
well-chosen words followed by Edgar T. Hole who
quoted the words from Psalms 126:6: “He that go-
eth forth and weepeth, bearing precious seed, shall
doubtless come again with rejoicing, bringing his
sheaves with him.” He impressed the fact upon the
meeting that although we may go forth weeping the
promise is for us if we go forth with precious seed.

Arthur Chilson read the opening verses of John
14, and Hebrews 13:4 and dwelt upon the thought
that Jesus went to prepare a place for us, for here
we have no continuing city. God, it appeared, was
calling these three young men home by the way of
Africa.

Willis Hotchkiss read a part of the 23rd chapter
of Luke, his text being taken from the 8th verse:
“this is the King”, putting emphasis first upon the
word “is” and then upon “the”. “A strange title
for Pilate to use, but he spake better than he knew.”

Emma Malone gave a brief statement of what
had thus far been accomplished by the Board.

J. Walter Malone in his characteristic way gave
this rendering of the first few verses of the 13th
chapter of Acts. “Now there were in the church
which was at Cleveland certain ministers and teach-
ers. As they ministered to the Lord and fasted, the
Holy Ghost said, separate me Willis and Arthur and
Edgar for the work whereunto I called them. And
when they had fasted and prayed and laid their
hands on them, they sent them away.

So they being sent forth by the Holy Ghost,
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departed unto Europe: and from thence they sailed
to Africa.”

The evening meeting was equally impressive
and the church was filled to utmost capacity.

Earnest prayers were offered both morning and
evening for the spiritual and temporal welfare of
these young men, our representatives on the foreign
field.

The site selected by the prospecting party was
located northeast of Lake Victoria, about 500 miles
inland from Mombasa, on the east coast of Afriea
in territory under British rule, called British East
Africa.

Owing to the urgent need for medical assistance
the Board decided to send as soon as possible Dr.
Elisha and Virginia Blackburn. Arrangements were
also made for Adelaide Hole and infant daughter to
accompany them, all sailing for Africa May 5, 1903.

At a later date Matilda Hotchkiss with infant
son, Livingston, joined her husband.

In 1904 Emory and Deborah Reese joined the
missionary staff and made a valuable addition to
the mission.

For over ten years the management of the
Friends’ Africa Industrial Mission was in the care
of the two delegates from each of ten Yearly Meet-
ings but in 1913 it was deemed wise to place it un-
der the American Friends’ Board of Foreign Mis-
sions.



CuarteEr IX

CALVIN R. CHOATE
1904

Again it was found that more pastoral care was
needed in the Meeting, and attention was called to
a student in the Bible Institute. Calvin R. Choate
was a stalwart, earnest Christian and already tak-
ing an active interest in the Meeting. To supply
this need of pastoral care a call was extended to
Calvin R. Choate in First month, 1904, to serve as
Pastor’s Assistant, and in Eighth month of the same
year he was recorded a minister.

This proved to be a trying period in the history
of the chiurch. The “gift of tongues” had insidious-
ly entered and carried captive some of the members.
Calvin R. Choate stood like a rock and it was large-
ly through his steadfastness, together with the care
of the Elders and Overseers, that no appreciable
inroads were made upon the membership and that
in a short time the Meeting came through the trying
ordeal victoriously and what might have been a
catastrophe was averted.

For three years and a half Calvin R. Choate
and his wife labored most earnestly, and then left
the Meeting, the former to engage in evangelistic
work.

The appointment of officers and standing com-
mittees had been quite unorganized until the year
1903, when it was decided that terms of all such of-
ficials should expire in Fifth month and that a nom-
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inating committee, previously appointed for the du-
ty, present to the Meeting in Fifth month names of
persons to act as officers and standing committees
for the following year; also it was required that a
yearly report from all such offices should be pre-
sented in Sixth month by the retiring officers of
said committees and auxiliaries. During the suc-
ceeding years it was found that this method was of
inestimable value and the business meetings of
Fifth and Sixth months came to be anticipated with
special interest.

A communication as follows was received from
the Pastoral and Evangelistic Board of Ohio Yearly
Meeting: —

Cleveland Quarterly Meeting Established

“At a meeting held in Columbus, Ohio, Fourth
month 4th, 1905, this body united in the thought that
it is advisable that Cleveland, South Cleveland,
Chagrin Valley and Milan Monthly Meeting unite
to form a new Quarterly Meeting to be known as
Cleveland Quarterly Meeting. The Meeting unites
with this proposition and agrees to send the petition
to the ensuing Quarterly Meeting.”

The request was granted—Cleveland Quarterly
Meeting convening for the first time in Eleventh
month, 1905, and entertaining twenty-seven guests.

Berlinville was set off from Milan in 1909, be-
coming then one of the Monthly Meetings of Cleve-
land Quarterly Meeting.

At a called Meeting of the Pastoral Board, J.
Walter Malone told the Meeting of his proposed
absence from the city a part of the time and with
his arduous duties at the Institute, he suggested that
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as the Meeting might need more care than he was
able to give, a pastor should be provided at the
close of Calvin Choate’s term of service.

Accordingly in Ninth month 19th, 1907, in com-
pliance with the request of J. Walter Malone, a
call was extended to Jesse McPherson to serve as
‘pastor, and the call was accepted.

Jesse McPherson was greatly burdened, fear-
ing the “gift of tongues” might have made a lasting
impress upon the Meeting. However, if any were
still tangled in the error they had gone their way.

Jesse McPherson was a faithful and efficient
pastor, but after serving the Meeting for one year
again felt the urge for general evangelistic work.
Minutes for service were granted him from time to
time by the Meeting. -

In Third month 17, 1910, according to his re-
quest, having accepted pastoral work in LaPorte,
Indiana, the certificates of membership for himself,
his wife Angeline, and daughter, Alice, were for-
warded to that Monthly Meeting.



CHAPTER X

WALTER AND EMMA MALONE, PASTORS
1908—1917

In Eighth month, 1908, J. Walter and Emma B.
Malone again being available for service, the Pas-
toral Committee recommended that they be “se-
© cured” to serve the Meeting as Pastors,” which po-
sition they filled until 1917.

In Second month, 1914, J. Walter Malone, Jr.,
called as assistant pastor and served a few months.
In 1920, feeling it to be to the best interests of the
church with which he was then affiliated, he asked
a letter that he might unite with the Presbyterian
Church of Homewood, Illinois. His request was
granted.

In the same year (1914) that J. Walter Malone,
Jr., left the church to serve elsewhere, Mrs. Flor-
ence Johns was engaged as Pastor’s Assistant.
Florence Johns was welcomed not only in the homes
of members, but made many contacts outside the
membership. She was greatly imterested in the
work of the Sunday School—identifying herself
particularly in the Home Department and Cradle
Roll, and increasing those departments to the high-
est number ever attained—namely: Home Depart-
ment, seventy; Cradle Roll, seventy five.

Florence Johns served the Meeting and Sunday
School efficiently for over four years and then went
to California to be with her daughter.

On Sixth month, 1917, our beloved J. Walter
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Malone informed the Monthly Meeting as he had
previously informed the Meeting of Ministry and
Oversight, that, owing to ill health, he felt he must
be released from the pastorate, and offered his res-
ignation to that effect. The Meeting had felt that
this announcement must come unless God’s healing
hand was laid upon him. A solemnity was upon the
Meeting as we recalled the labor of love of Walter
and Emma Malone for the past thirty-five years,

The Pastoral Board recommended on the re-
tirement of Walter and Emma Malone that they
be known and recognized as “Pastors Emeritus.”
Expressions of appreciation were given for the labors
of J. Walter and Emma B. Malone with the hope
that they would often have a concern for service in
the Meeting.

A New Church Considered

At a social meeting held in the spring of 1912
the outlook for church work was considered by the
Friends present. A thought was current among
some of the membership that possibly the present
site of the Meeting hampered its sphere of useful-
ness. After a full and free discussion as to the ad-
visability of moving the church to some locality in
the East End an unofficial committee was appointed
by the pastor, J. Walter Malone, to investigate
prices of any properties which said committee con-
sidered suitable for a church building site.

Nearly two years elapsed and the members of
the committee reported they had considered the
subject and had looked over the ground carefully,
but met with no success. The matter was dropped
and the committee discontinued.
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Shortly after this, a meeting of the membership
was called to discuss the advisability of building a
commodious tabernacle contiguous to the church
building which would comfortably seat the grow-
ing congregation. J, Walter Malone, Emma B. Ma-
lone and a few others felt the need of suitable ac-
commodations for Holiness conventions, and, en-
couraged by Bud Robinson, (at that time present
holding evangelistic meetings), the time seemed
auspicious to present the question to the members
and others attending the revival meetings. Accord-
ingly the subject was presented and subscriptions
were taken to the amount of $12,121 which was
thought would be about half of the sum required.

The members, feeling much encouraged, it now
seemed best to press the matter. The house and
lot east of the church had previously been purchased
for the sum of $2500.00 and the building committee
recommended that the property at 3300 Carnegie
be purchased. This property, with 35 feet frontage
and a depth of 200 feet, was at the rear of the pur-
chased property east of the church on Cedar Ave.
It was suggested the house on this purchased prop-
erty on Cedar Avenue could be moved to the rear
of the lot on Carnegie and that the income from both
houses (there being a house on this Carnegie Ave-
nue property) would more than cover the faxes, and
the interest en the proposed loan of $10,000 from
the Citizen’s Savings and Trust Company.

Walter W. Mendenhall was appointed chairman
of the Building Committee, and instructed to con-
sult architects. Architects were engaged, blue prints
were made and considerable work was done and
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Cedar Avenue Church after remodeling, Soul Winner, and Cleveland
Bible College Buildings.



some money expended. After all this effort there
seemed to be a current of uneasiness that perhaps
the undertaking was too great and that conditions
were not favorable for this advanced step; then, too,
there was a growing conviction that possibly the
work of the church had been accomplished in that
neighborhood. The eolored people were pressing
hard upon the church and the membership had re-
moved to distant parts of the city. The building
Committee, seeing the futility of further effort in
that connection, for the present at least, offered
their resignation which was accepted Twelfth
month, 1915.

Although the project was not carried through,
the house {(called the Cowley house) on Cedar Ave-
nue was purchased by a private party for the small
sum of $100.00 and removed.



CHAPTER XI

EDWARD W. MOTT AND MERRILL M. COFFIN,
PASTORS

1917—1922

On Eighth month 15th, 1917, the Pastoral Board
recommended that Edward W. Mott, as pastor, and
Merrill M. Coffin, as associate pastor, be engaged to
serve the Meeting the ensuing year. The Meeting
was united in this recommendation.

After serving the Meeting one year as Assist-
ant Pastor a meeting was called Eighth month 7th,
1918, at the request of Merrill Coffin. He told of his
call to Alliance Monthly Meeting and his own de-
sire and leading which he believed was from the
Lord to serve in that Meeting and asked that he be
honorably released from his engagement with Cleve-
land Monthly Meeting. The young people made an
earnest protest, speaking of his ever ready co-opera-
tion with them. Many members expressed regret at
Merril Coffin’s leaving, yet the call of the Lord be-
ing upon him, his request was granted and he was
honorably released on Eighth month, 1918.

In Eighth month 14th, 1918, a call was extended
to Myrtle Allen (Hadley), a minister, to serve as
Associate Pastor with Edward Mott, which position
was accepted, and, after serving acceptably a year,
she was called to act as Young People’s Evangelist
and Field Secretary of Christian Endeavor to Ohio
Yearly Meeting. This cancelled her special obliga-
tion to Cleveland Monthly Meeting and her transfer
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of membership was sent to Second Friends’ Church,
10-12-1931.

At Fullertown, a country community east of
Cleveland, there had been organized a Union Sun-
day School and a small building had been pur-
chased. John Bartow and wife were residents in
the neighborhood and through Mrs. Lafferty, they
came into contact with First Friends Church and
students from the School began preaching services
on Sunday. Edward Mott and Edgar Wollam had
held a successful tent meeting, and in Sixth month,
1915, there was presented a request from twenty-six
adults and five minors that they be received as
members of the Monthly Meeting, and then, that a
request be sent to Quarterly Meeting that they be
set off with disciplinary powers as a Monthly Meet-
ing. The request was granted and on Seventh
month Tth, 1915, the Monthly Meeting was estab-
lished at Fullertown.

Floyd and Cora Belle Mansfield have been loyal
supporters of the Fullertown Monthly Meeting, and
through their interest the pulpit has been supplied
with pastors or speakers.

War With Germany

At this time, 1917 and 1918, the United States
was at war with Germany. Knowing that some of
the young men had been drafted to carry arms, and
some having religious scruples which under the
present laws would exempt them from that service,
the clerk was instructed upon request to write a
simple statement certifying “the bearer is a mem-
ber of this Meeting, etc.” The clerk was also in-
structed to write letters for their spiritual encour-
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agement to our young men who had enlisted or had
been drafted. The following year a letter was form~
ulated by Myrtle Allen to be sent to the boys in
camp or overseas which letter was approved and
printed in the Sunday bulletin.

Annie A. Mendenhall was appointed chairman
of the Monthly Meeting Service Committee and
through her influence and invitation the Meeting
was addressed at various times by Friends from the
East so keenly interested in, and organizers of the
American Friends’ Relief Work.

Committees were appointed and regular sub-
seriptions were taken, hundreds of dollars being re-
ceived by the treasurer of the committee appointed
for that specific purpose. R. G. Prindle of Urbana,
Ohio, through F. H. Tormohlen surprised and
pleased the committee by sending a check of one
hundred dollars.

The women met weekly to sew at the home of
Mrs. May Latimer and later in the Boulevard School
on 105th Street. Hundreds of garments were made
for men, women, boys and girls, and letters of
thanks were received from Rebecca Carter, assist-
ant secretary of American Friends Service Com-
mittee. Also a tribute of appreciation, which the
church shared with other Friends, came from the
Red Cross workers in Paris.

We like to think that we as a Meeting respond-
ed whole-heartedly but when we see reports years
later of work done by Friends in Germany, Russia,
Paris, Vienna, Hungary, Poland, we wonder if we
had as large a part as we could have had.

“Cleveland Monthly Meeting, November 13,
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1918—Thank God, the nations are again at peace
and our state has gone dry. Until this date no meet~
ings have been held for two months awing to the
terrible scourge of Influenza infesting the land.”

Van Wert

In Eighth month 14, 1918, is found the follow-
ing minute: “The Pastoral and Evangelistic Board
of Ohio Yearly Meeting sent a communication to
this Meeting stating John Pennington had visited
the Van Wert Central Mission, Van Wert, Ohio, and
according to his recommendation the Board was
united in requesting that the eighty-two members
of the Mission should be received as members of
this Monthly Meeting until such a time as the Board
deemed it wise to set them up as a Monthly Meet-
ing.” Elizabeth Ward made a further statement of
the situation. The Meeting accepted the recom-
mendation of the Board.

The work of the Mission under the care of
Elizabeth Ward prospered, new members were
added from time to time. In 1919 twenty-eight mem-
bers were received and twenty more in the follow-
ing year.

On Fifth month 19th, 1920, a request was re-
ceived from Van Wert Central Mission that they be
set up as a Monthly Meeting and that they be set
off to Adrian Quarterly Meeting, which was much
more accessible. The request was granted and re-
ferred to the Quarterly Meeting for final action.

The following communication was read in the
Monthly Meeting eonvening Fifth month 14th, 1919;

“The Pastoral Board makes the following rec-
ommendation—‘Edward Mott being so closely al-
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lied with the Bible Institute, and it being our de-
sire to have a man who is not connected with that
Institution, (needing the services of a full time pas-
tor), we present the name of Thomas C. Henderson
to be called as pastor for the year October 1, 1919,
to October 1, 1920.”

The Meeting accepted the report of the Pas-
toral Board.

The clerk was instructed to write a cordial in-
vitation to Thomas C. Henderson, a minister of the
Methodist Episcopal Church, and Walter Malone and
George Gillespie were appointed to visit him giving
him a verbal invitation. In the following month a
letter was received stating that he would assume
the pastorate of the Meeting, and the outlook seem-
ed pleasing.

Through the Pastoral Board Thomas C. Hender-
son expressed a concern which was granted by the
Monthly Meeting, that in unity with the Cleveland
Bible Institute meetings, having in view an “All
Cleveland Evangelistic Campaign” should be held
in the Building of Locomotive Engineers hall be-
ginning Second month 29th, 1920, and continuing
for four Sunday evenings or as long as seemed ad-
visable. This was an innovation and meant the
closing of the church doors for those Sunday eve-
nings.

The services were held with a large attendance.
There was of necessity considerable expense con-
nected with this large undertaking but it was very
nearly covered, there being but a small deficit.

At a called meeting of the Pastoral Board in
Fifth month, 1920, Thomas C. Henderson asked to
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be released from his contract and his request was
granted after he had served less than a year.

Fifth month 12th, 1920, the Pastoral and Evan-
gelistic Board of Ohio Yearly Meeting advised that
the question of securing a pastor and caring for the
work should be left to the judgment of J. Walter
and Emma B. Malone, with which the Pastoral
Board of Cleveland Monthly Meeting fully con-
curred.

Tenth month 13th, 1920, the Pastoral Board
recommended to the Monthly Meeting that the
word “Emeritus” be dropped as titles to Walter and
Emma Malone and that they be re-instated as pas-
tors to give counsel whenever needed, with Rev.
George F. Oliver, D.D,, a retired minister in the M.
E. Church, as acting pastor for one year from Tenth
month, 1920. The Meeting unanimously approved
and extended a cordial invitation to these Friends
to accept the positions offered.

Arrangements were made in Twelfth month and
Susan Tormohlen was secured to act as church vis-
itor and Gertrude Cook as church secretary.
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CuarTER XII

HOMER L. COX
1921—1930

At the Monthly Meeting held Fifth month 18th,
1921, the following minute was read from the meet-
ing of Ministry and Oversight, dated Fifth month
13th, 1921,

“We believe that we should engage for our pas-
tor for the next year one who is a Friend and who is
able to give his whole time to the needs of our Meet-
ing and we unanimously recommend that the
Monthly Meeting extend a call to Homer L. Cox of
Portland, Oregon, to be our pastor, beginning as
soon as possible after Tenth month, 1921.”

The subject was quietly and prayerfully con-
sidered by the Meeting and a unanimous call was
extended to Homer L. Cox.

(In 1925 Homer Cox becoming deeply inter-
ested in Cleveland Bible Institute asked the priv-
elege of teaching a few hours a week and his re-
quest was granted, financial arrangements being
made with the School.)

Words of appreciation were spoken in behalf of
the acting pastor, Dr. Oliver, for his faithful labor
and ever cheering presence in the Meeting and he
was requested by the Meeting of Ministry and Over-
sight to continue with the Meeting until Twelfth
month 1st, 1922 when Homer L. Cox would be free
to begin his pastorate in this Meeting.

Homer L. Cox was accompanied by his wife,
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HOMER L. COX



Blanche Cox, a minister and their child. Their cer-
tificates of membership were received First month
18th, 1922,

At a very early date, becoming somewhat ac-
quainted with the membership and seeing the dis-
parity between the number in attendance at church
services and the long list of names upon the sta-
tistician’s book, Homer L. Cox recognized the need
of revising the roll of membership. (The statisti-
cian’s book read as follows: 277 males; 402 females;
total 679.)

The overseers met many times. Some calls were
made and in cases where addresses could be found
letters were written in order that no unjust de-
cisions should be made, and according to the judg-
ment of the Overseers and Monthly Meeting forty-
two names were dropped in February, sixty-two in
April and thirty-nine in June, and in a few years
fifty-eight were dropped at one time, making two
hundred and one names. For the most part these
were non-attenders. The business of the Meeting
moved forward in an encouraging way under the
direction of the new pastor.

Associate Membership

Although the church and School had been affili-
ated closely for many years, and the students had
co-operated in the activities of the Christian En-
deavorers, it was not until 1923 that an invitation
was extended to them to become Associate Mem-
bers in the church. In Twelfth month of that year
Homer L. Cox had suitable application cards print-
ed and at once twelve young people from the School
responded to the invitation. (In 1936 there had
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been one hundred and eighty-one received as as-
sociate members, not all students. A few of these
have later been received into full membership.)

Mayfield

A request was presented to the Monthly Meet-
ing held Eighth month 16th, 1922, from a number of
people residing in the neighborhood of what was
known as Stop 16A. They desired membership in .
this Meeting; at the same time, they requested that
a Meeting for Worship be established in that neigh-
borhood to be known as Friends' Community
Church. The Meeting approved, and under the
committee & or that duty the Meeting was
established Ninth month 13th, 1922, to be known as
Mayfield Monthly Meeting. In August, 1928, during
the pastorate of Byron L. Osborne, at that place work
was started on a new house of worship on a lot on
Lander Road, purchased through assistance of Ohio
Yearly Meeting and a bequest in the will of Hattie
Thoms, a member of Clark Avenue Monthly Meet-
ing.

The basement unit was dedicated December 16,
1928, during the pastorate of George G. Gillespie.
The Reverend C. W. Butler, D.D., president of
Cleveland Bible Institute preached the sermon of
dedication. George G. Gillespie continued as pas-
tor uniil September 1935 when Joseph R. Speas
beczame the pastor.

Mayfield Monthly Meeting has always been
keenly interested in both foreign and home mis-
sions. For a number of years, the Women’s Mis-
sionary Auxiliary supported a child in India, con-
tributed to Indian work in Oklahoma, the Rescue
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Home in Columbus, and needy fields in Virginia.
The Ladies’ Fellowship League has been very ac-
tive in local relief work and in assisting the local
church in various ways.

The Sunday School has been well organized;
also the various Christian Endeavor Societies un-
der very capable leaders.

A Malone Memorial Considered

The church neighborhood in these fifty years,
as noted previously, had greatly deteriorated and
when Homer L. Cox came to serve as pastor it was
beginning to be known in city politics as the “Roar-
ing Third.”

For ten years or more a new location for the
church had been under consideration. Colored peo-
ple were crowded close upon the east, south, and
west and had several flourishing churches. Just
south of this colored belt was the Jewish center;
and three blocks to the north was what had been
the beautiful Euclid Avenue, but now many of those
stately homes had been transformed into business
houses.

Homer L. Cox as well as the church member-
ship recognized that a new location was desirable,
and in co-operation with the frustees and finance
committee, a thorough search was instituted for
suitable and available property, either a lot on
which to build or a church edifice suited to the
needs of the Meeting.

The Monthly Meeting authorized the Board of
Trustees to negotiate the sale of the property of the
First Friends Church at whatever price seemed ad-
visable and appointed a business committee to plan
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and direct the campaign for a new church and be

responsible for the administration of funds as they

might accumulate, with Percy A. Hinman as treas—
urer of the “fund”.

When first a new church had been considered
it had always been the thought of the Meeting at
large as well as of the Ladies’ Fellowship League
that this new church was to be the “Malone Me-
morial Church” in honor of the beloved J. Walter
and Emma B. Malone; but later on by advice of
the trustees it was recognized that under a new
name, the church would lose her identity, having
been chartered under the name of “The First
Friends Church”. As this subject was further con-
sidered the money contributed toward the Malone
Memorial was set aside to be used as a special me-
morial, (as should be decided upon) to be placed
in a church when a church should be built or pur-
chased; or “these funds could be used on any new
church or existing property to be acquired.”

Although the committee in charge, pastor and
people were deeply concerned in this project no
opening was found available for the time being, but
the church was alert with the quest ever in mind.

Though the fulfillment of hope was delayed re-
garding the church, efforts were more successful
in securing a house on Shaw Avenue to be used as
a parsonage. This property was purchased Ninth
month, 1923, for the sum of nine thousand five hun-
dred dollars ($9,500.00).

It was the privilege of the church for six years
to sit under the ministry and listen to the Spirit-
filled messages of Homer L. Cox, and sincere regret
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was felt when his resignation, dated Twelfth month
5th, 1927, was presented to the Monthly Meeting.
The communication in part read as follows: —
“A conviction has been deepening in my heart and
mind during recent months that the Lord would
have me change my field of labor, and I herewith
respectfully decline the invitation to remain
throughout the coming pastoral year. . . .1 am deep-
ly interested in the future of the First Friends’
Church and whatever my relation to it may be, I
shall continue to render it any service within my
power. Yours in Christian love, Homer L. Cox.”
Homer L. Cox had stated previously he would
remain until Sixth month 1st, 1927, if the Meeting
so desired giving time for a permanent pastor to be
secured. After due deliberation the Meeting rec-
ommended that the communication be accepted.
The membership of Homer L. Cox remained in
the Meeting and minutes for service were granted
as he entered upon the evangelistic work to which
he felt called, and he was appointed Superintend-
ent of Yearly Meeting Pastoral and Evangelistic
Board. (All too short was he permitted to labor;
he was taken seriously ill and returned to his home
in Cleveland. Medical aid could not avail and on
Eleventh month 18th, 1930, another of God’s serv-
ants was called to his Heavenly home.) Homer
Cox’ departure left the summer months with a
vacant pulpit except as a supply pastor could be
provided. Sunday was cared for most satisfactorily
through the services of Ralph S. Coppock, a minis-
ter of Alliance, Ohio, and who was also Yearly
Meeting Presiding Clerk. The prayer meetings were
conducted by different members of the Meeting.
—53—



CuarTER XIII

LUTHER E. ADDINGTON
1928—1931

Under the advisement of the Meeting of Min-
istry and Oversight, the Monthly Meeting extended
to Luther E. Addington, a minister and pastor of
the Second Friends Church of Indianapolis, a call
to serve the Meeting as pastor for one year begin-
ning Ninth month 1st, 1928. The invitation was ac-
cepted and the certificates of membership for Luther
E. Addington and his wife and daughter were re-
ceived Ninth month, 1928,

At the close of his third year as pastor he asked
that the Church might accept his resignation, al-
though an invitation had been extended to him to
remain another year. No one could have fulfilled
the duties of pastor more loyally than did Luther E.
Addington.

From the records of the minute book this short
synopsis of the yearly reports is inserted. It is very
like 2 hundred or more other reports but by request
of Luther E. Addington was printed in the Sunday
bulletin:

”Cleveland Monthly Meeting Convened June 12th,
1929

The yearly reports of the officers and standing
committees were upon the table.

Many in the church look forward to this sum-
ming up of the various activities and our hearts are



encouraged as these reports are read. We wish that
our entire membership could be present as year by
year the reports are presented to the meeting. Ev-
ery committee is appointed for specific duties and
as these duties are faithfully performed the machin-
ery of the church goes smoothly on. This does not
mean that no problems have arisen, but it means
that these problems are being worked out by “work-
ing together with the Lord.”

The minutes have been carefully written each
month and all matters left in the care of the clerks
promptly dispatched and the statistician’s book is
posted up to date.

The Overseers have had watchful interest in
the membership, encouraging or admonishing as
need required. They have faithfully visited or in-
terviewed those asking membership, and in a num-
ber of cases the names of those entirely indifferent
have been dropped.

The Finance Committee and Board of Trustees,
composed of men and women of business ability
and Christian integrity, have been confronted with
some unforseen and trying problems. Out of their
busy lives many hours have been used bringing
order out of chaos. The duty of the church is clear,
burdens must be shared and shared alike.

Our Flower Committee, by their vigilance,
have brought sunshine into the sick room, and those
mourning the loss of dear ones have perhaps been
comforted a little as the sweet floral tributes have
come to them. Every flower, from the rose to the
daisy, is a joy as they nod to us Sunday after Sun-
day from the rostrum.
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Mrs. Williamson, Miss Cook and the young peo-
ple of the choir have furnished us with sweet and
inspiring music all the year.

Thank you, Perry Cook, for your beautifully-
tabulated treasurer’s reports month by month
throughout the year; and being audited, of course,
they are correct. Eight thousand six hundred and
eighty-nine dollars have been used in the Lord’s
work. The Malone Memorial reports $1,960 on hand.

The Sunday School has been made interesting
to old and young. Various programs have been giv-
en by the children. Chalk talks of unusual inter-
est by Clara Ford have kept us spellbound and Miss
Fewings has generously provided programs by the
juniors from her School of Expression. The aver-
age attendance has been one hundred forty-two and
$476.53 have passed through the treasurer’s hands.

The Fisherman’s Bible Class reports one hun-
dred and eight calls and forty-two letters. The
Emma B. Malone Bible Class has supported two
children in India.

Junior Church has had an average attendance
of sixty, and club meetings held three afternoons a
week have averaged twenty-one in attendance.
Over eight hundred calls have been made by our
Home Missionary, Eva Clausen.

The Christtan Endeavorers have met regular-
Iy each Sunday evening with an average attendance
of forty and have raised $71.00, over half of which
goes for the foreign missions. Six times they have
conducted meetings at the Dorcas Home.

The Ladies’ Fellowship League has continued
in its works of love, giving out fruit, flowers, cloth-
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ing and Thanksgiving baskets. Twenty-five dollars
was given to Mayfield Church. Five hundred and
twenty-six calls have been made. Gifts have been
given to new babies and shut-ins. One hundred
thirty-five letters or postcards have been sent, and
collections to the amount of $375.00 received. Av-
erage attendance, twenty-two.

The Women’s Missionary Auxiliary, with an
average attendance of nineteen, has held most in-
teresting and helpful meetings. One hundred and
forty-eight dollars have been given to various de-
partments of mission work. i

A three days’ missionary convention was held
in November, resulting in offerings and pledges to
the amount of $3,000. We had present with us six
missionaries, whose messages were inspiring.

Resident ministers and Christian workers have
been faithful in preaching and in attendance at
various missions. '

Our new pastor, Luther E. Addington, has
found favor with our people. He is untiring in his
efforts for the spiritual welfare of the church. Two
hundred and thirty-four pastoral calls have been
made; two hundred and fifty-seven public meetings
attended. Average attendance of morning worship,
including Juniors, two. hundred and twenty-five.
The Lord bless pastor and people.

This short resume in no wise adequately rep-
resents the work done by our church membership,
but space forbids a fuller report.

Nellie S. Waterbury,
Recording Clerk.”

B



CuartEr XIV

EVERETIT L. CATTELL
1931—1936

A call was extended to Everett L. Cattell to
serve as pastor at the close of Luther E. Addington’s
term of service, on either of two propositions, as
follows: First, that he come to serve as full-time
pastor; Second, that he accept the pastorate with
the understanding that if he so desired he might al-
so accept the call which Cleveland Bible Institute
had extended to him for nine hours’ teaching per
week in the Institute.

A reply was received from Everett L. Cattell
accepting the second proposition. (In 1933, owing
to increased burdens, the teaching hours were re-
duced to five per week.)

For a number of years it had seemed that a
pastor who could devote full time to the work of
the Church was needed; but the Institute being so
closely allied with the Church and the students at-
tending church services so loyally, the attitude of
the Church changed somewhat until it seemed de-
sirable that the pastor should have a few hours each
week to minister to the students, thus cementing
the interests of the Church and School more closely.

The certificates of membership for Everett L.
Cattell, a minister, his wife, Catherine, and son,
David, were received Ninth month 23rd, 1931.

During the pastorate of Luther E. Addington
and for the first year after Everett L. Cattell came to
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Cleveland search for a new location for the church
had continued.

In the church bulletin dated May 29, 1932, was
the following startling announcement: —

“The Most Important Meeting in Ten Years!

“The Trustees have carried on negotiations for
the purchase of a new location to the extent that
they are now ready to submit them to the Monthly
Meeting for final action. Accordingly it has been
arranged to hold an adjourned session of Monthly
Meeting at the proposed location, giving an oppor-
tunity for every member to inspect the building be-
fore voting.

The location is that of All Souls’ Universalist
Church on the corner of Superior Avenue and Mel-
bourne. The Universalists have merged with the
Unitarians in the city, leaving their building for
sale.”

The adjourned Monthly Meeting was held ac-
cording to announcement, the location and church
building were approved, the vote was taken and
the trustees were instructed to make such negotia-
tions as the finances of the church would warrant.

The Cedar Avenue property was on the market
for sale. A few tentative offers of purchase had
been extended but were not worthy of considera-
tion.

1932 was the year of the country’s deepest fi-
nancial depression and great faith was required to
make such a venture. The church had no resources
except the few dollars in the Malone Memorial Fund
which must be held in reserve. A meeting of Fourth
month 17th, 1935, reported the results of an investi-
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gation by the committee in charge of the fund, mak-
ing it clear that it was in keeping with the purpose
of the donors that these funds should be used for
any new or existing church property which the
Meeting might like to acquire. The Universalist
Church was held at a price of $27,500. Not entering
into full details of negotiations between the trustees
of the First Friends’ Church and the Universalist
Church, final adjustments were made as follows: A
contract carrying a lease with option to buy was
put into effect calling for payments of $150.00 per
month, $100 of this amount was to be considered
payment upon the purchase price, while $50 was to
be rental. The meeting carried through this obliga-
tion until Third month, 1933, when the final crash
of the depression closed the banks and money was
frozen. From that time forward the meeting was
able to pay only $50 a month. At the end of the year
the contract was amended making our payments
$50 a month and crediting all moneys that had been
paid and all that should be paid through the revised
contract on the purchase price. This revised con-
tract has been renewed from year to year.

Preceding the removal to the new church, fare-
well services were conducted at the Cedar Avenue
Church, Sunday, September 11, 1932,

An interesting program was given by some of
the older members: —Recollections of the church
in earliest days, a review of the young people’s meet-
ings and the Sunday School, and notes of interest
upon the missionaries and the various pastors oe-
cupying the pulpit. This was a turning point in the
history of the church and it was with a mixture of
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expectancy and treasured memories that the church
doors were closed on Cedar Avenue.

On Ninth month 14, 1932, Monthly Meeting
was held for the first time in the new church, with
Dillwyn C. Wistar in his accustomed place as pre-
siding clerk. Nellie S. Waterbury, who had served
the Meeting for thirty-one years as recording clerk,
had now retired and was succeeded by May Farren.
Sunday, September 25, was observed as the Dedi-
cation of the church, home-coming and rally.

Changes were found necessary regarding Home
Missionary work and Eva Clausen was released that
she might accept the position as Field Representa-
tive of the Cleveland Bible Institute.

Many adjustments were required in connection
with the removal of the church location. In 1930
at the Cedar Avenue Church, the morning service
had an average attendance, including the Junior
Church, of two hundred and thirty-two (232); the
evening service of one hundred and eighteen (118).
The attendance after removal was one hundred and
forty-one (141) in the morning service and one
hundred and five in the evening. (In 1936 these
numbers had increased to one hundred sixty-two,
ond one hundred twenty-eight, respectively.)

A canvass was made in the community by or-
ganized committees giving cordial invitations to
those without church affiliations to attend church
services. Some of these invitations were accepted.
The singing of the old-time songs may have made
an appeal to some who were passing. Entering
casually, they were stirred by the preaching of the
“old-time religion”, and came again.
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A large number of the students of the Institute,
some of them associate members of the church and
Christian Endeavor Society, though it meant extra
time and carfare, maintained their allegiance.

The prayer meetings were spiritually uplifting
and a number from other churches who felt a lack.
in their own mid-week meetings became quite regu-
lar attenders, and there were some additions made
to the church membership.

*® *® #® * *®

Under the report of the Missionary Auxiliary,
notes have been made of public meetings, receptions,
ete. The church has ever been keenly alive in mis-
sionary activities and many most interesting pro-
grams were given in the Cedar Avenue Church.
There has been no attempt in these pages to go into
detail and describe any one program to the exclu-
sion of many others of similar character.

Missionary programs and conventions have con-
tinued in the new church. The Sunday school au-
ditorium, balcony and class-rooms are most adapt-
able to artistic effects. The kitchen with culinary
accommodations makes serving easy, whether for
visiting pastors, home-coming missionaries or fel-
lowship dinners. The original paintings by Rufus
Stolz have from time to time created an indelible
picture of the task on the foreign fields intrusted
to the Friends’ Meeting.

The Meeting at large and the mission stations
as well have been affected by the financial distress
upon the membership. The treasurer’s reports and
missionary offerings do not show amounts as in
many previous years. A subject often brought to
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ihe Meeting’s attention by the pastor and Superin-
tendent of Ohio Yearly Meeting is “Bring ye all the
tithes into the store house.” Even God’s pcople
need a constant reminder of the blessing that will
be “poured out” if this injunction is obeyed.

As early as 1902, at the farewell meeting for
the outgoing missionaries to Africa, at the request
of J. Walter Malone over sixty persons signified
their intention to tithe their incomes for missions.
It is conceded that this, only, will solve the financial
embarrassment of the church.

An appropriate program was given Third month
14th, 1933, to commemorate the fiftieth anniversary
of the establishment of the Monthly Meeting. J.
Walter Malone, although so frail in health, graced
the company by his presence.

The Pastors’ Conventions held Fifth month 15-
17, 1935, and Fifth month 21-23, 1936, and Fifth
month, 1937, were unique. There was no artistic
display in the class rooms; instead twenty-four cots
on each occasion were prepared for the accommoda-
tion of visiting pastors.

Music

The Friends’ Church no longer is opposed either
to vocal or instrumental music and has come a long
. way since the little organ of the Sunday School was
not allowed in the Meeting,.

Nellie Thomas had a true pitch and started the
hymns for congregational singing. In 1910 an ad-
vance step was taken and through the kindness of
some city organization the church was permitted
the use of a “vocalion” which was played with indif-
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ferent success by well-meaning amateurs. Mrs.
Anna Hunter, only, was able to bring forth expres-
sive melody. In 1913 an orchestra was organized in
the Sunday School and in 1918 Merrill M. Coffin
went so far as to form a choir for Sunday service.

The new church has a pipe organ and its every
note is dedicated to the worship of God. Those in
attendance have been blessed many times by sacred
song from the Spirit-filled choir Sunday morning
and the junior choir on Sunday night.

Others, not members of the church, have added
to the beauty of service on different occasions; Harp,
organ and violin, and choruses of young people from
Christian colleges have contributed.

Everett L. Cattell had now been pastor of the
Meeting for five years and he and his wife had great-
ly endeared themselves to the members and attend-
ers. They were keenly alive to the needs of the home
church, but during the winter and spring of 1936,
we, as a congregation sensed a growing burden up-
on Everett and Catherine Cattell for the work in the
foreign field. ;

One Sunday morning Everett Cattell preached
from the text found in John 12:24: “Verily, verily,
I say unto you, except a corn of wheat fall into the
ground and die, it abideth alone; but if it die it
bringeth forth much fruit.” The Holy Spirit spoke
to at least one heart and said, “Everett is preaching
to himself. He has received a call to the foreign
field. Pray for him.” With hearts open to the
Spirit’s leading they said, “Here am I Lord, send
me, any time, any where.” A field was open and
waiting and with but little delay they were ap-
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pointed to missionary service in India under the
Ohio Yearly Meeting Board.

A “farewell” was given them July 31st, 1936.
Personal feelings of sadness were put aside, tears
were restrained, and with victory in our hearts, we
dedicated these young people anew to the special
work to which they were called. May the services
of the last Sunday, August 9th, remain long with
us. In the morning Everett Cattell read the 32nd
Psalm and preached from the text, “The God of love
and peace be with you.” In the evening his text
was found in Matt. 28:18. “All power is given unto
me in heaven and in earth.”

Everett and Catherine Cattell, with their two
little children, David and Barbara Anne, sailed
September 4th, 1936, to join our beloved senior mis-
sionary Esther E. Baird in India.



Cuarter XV

WALTER R. WILLIAMS
1936

At the going of Everett L. Cattell there was
heard more than once, “Oh, we are so sorry to have
Everett and Catherine go, but we are so glad to
have Walter and Myrtle Williams come.” They had
been missionaries to China for fifteen years, but
owing to the ill health of Myrtle Williams were
obliged to return to the home land some years ago.

We knew them so well as young married peo-
ple, and remember so clearly that day at Yearly
Meeting when they were dedicated to the foreign
service. Their baby, Walter, Jr., was an added in-
terest to us, and joyously we gave a few icns of
dollars that he, too, might be a missionary.

How we had rejoiced with them in their vie-
tories, and how we had suffered with them through
sorrcw and harrowing experiences.

Now they were coming to us! The Meeting was
indeed favored when Walter R. Williams accepted
the call, not only because we knew and loved the
family, and not only for the benefit which we knew
they would be to the church, but they would be
another link binding the interests of the Meeting
to that land which does not seem so far away in
these days.

Certificates of membership were received from
Damascus, Ohio, Monthly Meeting, Ninth month
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WALTER R. WILLIAMS, D.D.



16th, 1936, for Walter R. Williams, a minister, his
wife, Myrtle Williams, and their two minor sons,
Paul Paton and John Pennington. A reception was
given them September 25th, 1936, when over one
hundred were present.

Final arrangement for the purchase of our pres-
ent building was made at a called meeting April 6,
1938. This was a time of great rejoicing as most
favorable terms had been made.

We see by the statistical reports for the last five
years that there has been an addition in membership
of ninety-two. The Overseers have been busy, not
only in examining applicants for membership, but
also in carefully revising the roll of membership,
and the names of many persons who have entirely
lost interest have advisedly been dropped, as, have
also those who have removed to other Meetings or
churches, so, all told, there have been no gains in
membership.

The Meeting continues under the efficient lead-
ership of Walter R. Williams and there is no con-
cluding chapter to this short history. A few years
hence some one far more able than the present
writer will, we trust, continue the story of this be-
loved First Friends Church.
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CHAPTER XVI1
FINANCE

In early days when Cleveland Friends assem-
bled in worship, whether in the Y. M. C. A. or the
Swedenborgian church there were certain financial
obligations, but they were a small item compared
to those of later years.

After the Monthly Meeting had been establish- -
ed there were greater obligations. At times the
minutes make reference to situations where money
was required, when James Farmer would turn to
the clerk or treasurer and say in his quiet way “the
obligation has been met”, Thus the indebtedness,
whatever it may have been, was cared for. Those
of the members who contributed toward the sup-
port of the Meeting gave privately, and the mem-
bership generally did not feel the responsibility.
Some attenders even remarked, “Salvation is free.”

For years there was an offering box in the
vestibule, but as a rule the people were busy greet-
ing friends and it was passed by with little notice.
Sometimes the treasurer found in it a few dollars.

In 1883 it was decided to apportion the expense
of the Meeting to the general membership. Each
member was notified by letter of his individual re-
sponsibility. The first treasurer’s report entered on

the minutes ran as follows: —
i



1883—Gas and wood ...... $ 8.24

AL TS e e 23.34
Yearly Mtg. Stock ... 53.39
Care of house ....... 20.00

A note was made that this was not a complete
report. In Ninth month, 1889, the treasurer’s report
read as follows: —

From box .........cc.... $ 403
Envelopes ....cccoeeveens 84.45
Other sources ............ 36.33

Totalh . st et $124.81

Under a separate minute is this item:

“James Farmer reported that assessment has
been made and street tax has been paid amounting
to $340.00.” For some reason, doubtless known at
the time, this amount was not included in the treas-
urer’s report,

As the pages of the Monthly Meeting minute
books are turned one by one from 1883 to 1937 in-
teresting reports are found tabulated by various
treasurers holding office. A few of these reports
have been selected at random which will in them-
selves show the development of the finances of the
church. Space will not be taken for full reports,
only total receipts for the year being noted. Too
many times these are not complete, owing to the
failure of various auxiliaries to submit reports to

the treasurer.
D



In 1891 the Yearly Meeting Stock was $64.80.

In 1896—Total cash received ...... $832.06
Expended for charity and missions. 128.83
Delegates expenses ............... 43.60
Preaching and Pastoral work ...... 182.50
Running expense ........coovveun.s 330.23
Improvement ..............c00.0. 27.82
$712.98
In 1905 is found the following: —
Amount received ...........0i00n $1344.02
Expended for Preaching and
2503 7o) o1 (GO RIS S R e 388.92
Charity and Missions ............ 356.36
Quarterly Meeting Delegates ..... 18.10
Improvements .................. 144.38
Running expenses ............... 406.26
Total .....covviirvvrinnnennn $1314.02
Balahess | o Tt 30.00

In 1906 the totzl receipts were $2121.86. In
the year 1911 the question was considered as to the
best method of placing the church on a sound fi-
nancial basis, and the treasurer and finance com-
mittee were instructed to ascertain the actual week-
ly running expenses and endeavor by the pledge
system to cover the same. Letters were sent to the
members asking for regular contributions that the
finances might be brought to a better basis. The
members responded with a fair degree of co-opera-

tion.
T

1912, According to the minutes of First month
18, 1912, the Meeting decided that “5% of the gross
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income for general expenses of the church should
be set aside for the use of the Advice and Assist-
ance Committee (Composed of the Elders of the
Meeting).

In 1915 a readjustment was made, and the
Meeting now having an efficient church visitor, it
was decided that the definite amount of $5.00 a
month be set aside for the use of the Advice and
Assistance Committee, this money to be given to
Florence Johns, Church Visitor, to be used at her
discretion.

The committee was given the authority to draw
further upon the treasury to the amount of $5.00 as
seemed necessary according to the judgment of the
Committee. But again in 1921 the Meeting decided
that 5% of the offerings for general expense be
placed in a fund for the relief of those of our mem-
bers who were in financial need.

In 1934 the action was rescinded and the treas-
urer was directed to “advance up to $30 to the Ad-
vice and Assistance Committee as may be required.”

* E * * *

1912—

Receipts from the Church ....... $4848.43 -

From Sunday School ............ 368.87

Ladies’ Fellowship League ....... 297.10

Christian Endeavor .............. 52.86
Grand total ................. $5567.26

Note:—No report from the Missionary Auxili-
ary.
In 1918—Receipts totaled $6376.72.
In 1928:—
Amount received by Treasurer..$11,445.55
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Ladies’ Fellowship League ...... 1,055.28

Missionary Auxiliary .......... 221.711
Emma B. Malone Bible Class . ... 77.80
Fisherman’s Bible Class ........ 143.31
Christian Endeavor ............ 85.55
Sunday School ................ 320.00

$13,355.20

In 1931 the total amount received by the treas-
urer was $7,884.14. This was the last report pre-
sented by Perry R. Cook, who had served the Meet-
ing as treasurer for twenty-five years. A note was
made by Perry Cook, that in connection with the
finance committee, the funds had been handled in
the most liberal manner possible in view of the
lessened receipts.

John A, Hasenpflug, a non-resident member for
many years, (but who had kept in close touch with
the Meeting), had now returned to Cleveland and
was appointed to fill the vacancy left by the death
of Perry Cook. He faithfully carried the duties of
this office until 1937 when he requested release.

John Nelson was appointed to succeed him. By
this time a slightly modified ‘system of caring for
the treasurer’s work had been put into effect, an
assistant treasurer having been appointed in the
early winter of 1936 to receive and deposit receipts,
the treasurer still retaining the power of disbursing
all funds. Alvina Martin served as assistant
treasurer during the last six months of John Has-
enpflug’s tenure of office but was not able to con-
tinue the work beyond the end of the church year
(May 31, 1937). Jennie P, Wistar was chosen as-
sistant treasurer at that time.
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CuarTER XVII

MISSIONARY AUXILIARIES
The Woman’s Missionary Auxiliary

This society though small in its beginnings has
grown in interest until it is one of the outstanding
organizations of the church. Those women of early
days, faithful in their testimony and in missionary
interest, gathered month by month endeavoring to
create more of a missionary spirit in the younger
women.

Together they read missionary books and is-
cussed pioneer missionaries; they talked of “Het-
tie” Butler and of her definite call to the mission
field; they rejoiced over the organization of the
Woman’s Foreign Missionary Society with Sarah E.
Jenkins as president, and mite collections were
faithfully received.

Even “mite” collections amount to quite a sum
if continued long enough, but these women as the
years passed by were not satisfied with penny and
nickel offerings. As their vision broadened, in pro-
portion their offerings were increased.

Monthly programs were planned with care; the
meetings were made interesting and the missionary
spirit grew. All-day meetings with visiting friends
from South Cleveland and Mayfield were held,
with devotional periods and interesting programs.

The society has been pleased to send personal
gifts at Christmas time to our missionaries and our
missionaries’ children, to give toward the Christmas
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dinner for China and India, to help in the Esther E.
Baird Love Fund, to assist those laboring in Africa
when on the field or in the home land.

Stereoptican lectures have been given; speak-
ers and missionary programs have been provided
for the Sunday School; public meetings have been
held with speakers from other churches as well as
from our own denomination; receptions have been
given.

We were glad to give a sewing machine, dishes
and silverware to India through the aid of members
of the meeting.

In 1926, after a successful Missionary Conven-
tioa the pledges reached $3925.00. Beyond this the
support of Ruth Thurston was assumed for one
year, contributed to by students from the Cleveland
Bible Institute.

This, the promoting of giving money, is a very
small part of the work done by the society. We
have given of our own members to both .India and
China. We have given of ourselves in intercession.

The missionaries tell us that more than all else
they covet our prayers.

During the years since, our interest has been
well sustained. Lessened financial ability has re-
duced our annual giving to foreign missions though
it is just as heartily and as sacrificially given as ever
in the past.

The gifts of the church to foreign missions dur-
ing the year recently ended totaled $1293.12.

Our people maintain a vital interest in both In-
dia and China.
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The Young Women’s Missionary Auxiliary

The members of the Woman’s Missionary Aux-
iliary regretted that many of the younger women
did not attend the afternoon meetings. It was from
no lack of interest on their part but because they
were employed during the day.

The urge was upon them, and to meet the need
of this group, an evening society was formed in
1935, called the Young Women’s Missionary Society.
The first president was Frances Hodgin DeVol, who,
herself is now under appointment as a nurse, to
accompany her husband Dr. Ezra DeVol to our
China field.

Junior Mission Band

The children, too, with an enrollment of thirty
have been formed recently into a Junior Mission
Band under the careful training of Alta Shreve and
Alice Hines.



Craprer XVIII
THE LADIES’ FELLOWSHIP LEAGUE

There was an informal gathering of the women
of the church in the home of Emma B. Malone July
8, 1896, in the interests of the Meeting. At that
time and on that day was organized the Ladies’
Fellowship League, its object being to foster the
fellowship already existing among the women of the
church,

For forty years the society has met ten times
during each year and in those four hundred meet-
ings which have been held it would be impossible
to tell the amount of work done, the plans that were
made and carried out or the amount of money that
has passed through the treasury. Such an attempt
will not be made, but the secretary books are inter-
esting and a few points may be noted. Sewing has
been done for the Children’s Country Training
Home, Golden Rule Home, Rescue Home, Cleve-
land Bible Institute, and busy mothers. During the
war and in 1919 many hundreds of garments were
made and forwarded to Relief headquarters.

Thousands of bouquets have been given and
hundreds of floral remembrances. Baskets of fruit
and gifts of love have brought a little cheer from
“Sunshine Sisters” to discouraged ones. Although
it was not the primary purpose to raise money, yet
much money has been given: for dishes, silverware,
a kitchen range, a carpet for the church auditorium,
and articles of real worth too numerous to mention.
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For many years the Thanksgiving offering of the
church has been entrusted to the Ladies’ League for
distribution. Perhaps the largest offering given for
this purpose was in 1919 when $86.00 was given by
the generous members of the church. In 1921 the
sum of $1,043.31 passed through the League treas-
ury, and in 1922 the treasurer’s book showed the
receipt of $1,008.74. One yearly report shows over
seven hundred letters and sixty postcards written
and $200.00 given toward the interest due on the
parsonage.

Committees from the League have planned for
entertainment of Quarterly Meeting delegates, for
visiting ministers and evangelists, and in co-opera-
tion with the Sunday School and Missionary Auxil-
iary have made picnics and receptions a success.
Fellowship suppers have been served intermittant-
ly since the first days, but since coming to the
church on Melbourne they have become an estab-
lished custom and are served twice a month, fol-
lowing the Ladies Fellowship League and the Wom-
en’s Missionary Auxiliary.

At the May League Meeting in 1925 Homer L.
Cox presented an outline of the Malone Memorial
project, plans were considered, and a tentative com-
mittee was appointed, the names being forwarded
to the Monthly Meeting for approval. Since that
time the League has ever had the vision of a new
church and has worked toward its fulfillment. The
following year thirty ladies made a pledge of $1,000
to be paid in three years. A later date shows this
obligation more than covered.

At the first inception of a Malone Memorial



a “church” had been in mind, as noted elsewhere.
A considerable amount of money had been raised
but later it scemed advisable to set this aside as a
reserve fund and efforts were continued under the
name of the “New Church Fund”, the treasurer
keeping the entries separate. There is on hand in
the treasury at present date, (1936), about $1,000
in the Malone Memorial Fund and nearly $290.00
in the New Church Fund.

The interest in the New Church and the Ma-
lone Memorial never flagged. When in 1932 the
“New Church” was realized thoughts were cen-
tered upon the Malone Memorial. After a period of
waiting one room in the new church was re-decorat-
ed and most fittingly and tastefully furnished in
memory of our beloved J. Walter and Emma B.
Malone. Yet this at its best but imperfectly ex-
presses the love, indeed the reverence, their mem-
ory holds in the hearts of the members of the La-
dies’ Fellowship League.

Emma Malone and many other dear ones have
left the ranks since those first days, but younger
ones are bravely carrying the burdens and the so-
ciety has functioned effectively for the last fifteen
years under the leadership of Jennie P. Wistar,
president, and Alvina Martin, treasurer.



CuartER XIX
SUNDAY SCHOOL

Before the Meeting House was built a little
Sunday school had been organized by a young man
named Thomas McKinney in a blacksmith shop
owned by a Mr. Moody. After the building of the
Church, the Sunday school was moved to the base-
ment of the Church and Caleb Davies, who had
conducted a class for newsboys in the Y. M. C. A,,
was given charge.

Also in this blacksmith shop was held on Sun-
day afternoons a' young-people’s meeting. Every
‘Saturday the shop was swept, seats were arranged,
tables and necessary furniture borrowed, and mot-
toes and texts hung upon the walls until the place
seemed quite attractive to the young people. This
group, too, moved to the Church at its completion
and J. Walter Malone conducted the meetings. The
time was spent most profitably in Bible study ac-
companied by song and prayer. The meetings grew
until they became quite well known throughout the
city. :

A call to work among the young people had
heretofore not been presented to the minds of the
older Friends, but they looked with favor upon this
stirring of new life and recognized in J. Walter Ma-
lone a gift that, if encouraged, would refbund to
the glory of God and the upbuilding of the Meeting.
Two of the older women at different times came to
J. Walter Malone with almost identical words: “We
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believe thee is called of God and we wish thee
would start a Sabbath school in the Meeting House.”

Then began a day of greater things. A Sunday
school was started in the Meeting House but soon
outgrew its quarters and was moved to a skating
rink in the neighborhood of Central Avenue or
Garden Street, as then named, where it grew to such
proportions that one fears to state the number lest
there be unbelief.

When the Church was enlarged in 1886 the
Sunday School was again brought to the Church.

It seemed that every child in the neighborhood
knew and loved J. Walter Malone and looked to
him in expectancy for the smile he never failed to
give.

Although one might think the Sunday school
was handicapped by lack of class rooms and other
accommodations, apparently such handicaps were
not considered. What matter though two hundred
and fifty children were in one room! And children
of fifty years ago were very like children of today.
Children were everywhere; in groups around their
teacher; seated on the edge of the platform and even
on the floor. Walter would gently brush them aside
with his foot as he made a pathway to the platform.
Cora Burgy (Cook) at fourteen years of age be-
gan her work in the Primary Department (the In-
fant Class) and has continued until this date (1936)
except such times as serious illness incapacitated
her.

Sunday School Missionary Report from 1906 to 1926

We believe it would be profitable as well as in-
teresting to give here a verbatim report of the mis-
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sionary interests of the Sunday school written by
Ralph H. Waterbury for the twenty years between
1906 to 1926. This report was written in an in-
formal style, never intended for publication. Never-
theless we take the liberty.

“Missionary History”

“As I think back over our happy times of the
past, I am amazed at the amount of work done by
our little Sunday school. In going over my records
it is with a mixture of pride and sadness that I note
entries concerning Delia Fistler, Dr. Gaynor, Drs.
De Vol and Margaret Smith, now departed from this
world. I notice also gifts to Lu Ho hospital.

However, even though some of our missionaries
may be dead, we have the comfort of thinking that
we helped their cause to some extent, at least.

I think one of the most splendid gifts of our
school was that of the portable sawmill to Africa
for Willis Hotchkiss and Arthur Chilson.

This was before my term as treasurer, in 1905,
This sawmill and turbine cost four hundred and
fifty dollars and I know it was greatly appreciated
by our missionaries.

The first entry I find in my own books is as fol-
lows: August 6, 1906, Child in China, $20.00. Then
this entry in 1907, Mary in China, $20.00

Those of you who can remember back to 1907
will surely remember “Mary”. She was picked out
from a number of other girls to be our own special
girl. We named her and watched her grow from a
child to young womanhood. Years later in 1913 I
find records of “Watch for Mary, $13.00.

“Graduation present for Mary, $5.00.”
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Our China work consisted of $20.00 a year for
Mary or her successor and here and there special
gifts such as:

1907 Lu Ho Hospital ..... $17.66
1911 Lu Ho Hospital ..... 15.00
1923 Chas. De Vol ....... 25.00

After 1910 we supported a child in India at a
yearly cost of $20.00. Later the Emma B. Malone
Bible Class supported two extra children.

Besides China and India I find our interests
extended to many other places and are indicated
by the following:

1913 Children’s Country Training Home...$21.50

1917 Armenian Relief .................... 60.64
1918 Books for Soldiers ......ovievervinn 10.00
1918 Jefferson Ford’s Motorcycle .......... 25.00
1921 Building Fund (Home work) ......... 100.00

Missionary collections were taken on the first
Sunday of each month. In 1906 I find that the col-
lections varied from $1.68 to $4.00 per Sunday. In
later years we sometimes exceeded $12.00 and on
one day, Dec. 7, 1919, I find our banner collection,
$41.96.

It might be interesting to know just how much
money we raised for missions in the twenty years
during which I kept the records. This total is $2,-
403.71, truly a large amount considering the fact
that we never had a large school nor any wealthy
members either in the school or in the Church.

The chief satisfaction that I derive from all this
as I write this report is that whether the amount
was large or small, it was surely worth while. We
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must have helped our missionaries a little at least
and I know we helped ourselves more.
Respectfully submitted,
Ralph H. Waterbury.”
11-7-28.

Fisherman’s Class

The Sunday school was primarily for the chil-
dren but there were small adult classes. Then came
the day of organization in the Sunday school world
at large and the men of First Friends Sunday School
were not one whit behind men of other churches.
On November eleventh, 1909, nine men met and or-
ganized a class to be known as “The Fisherman’s
Bible Class” with J. Walter Malone as teacher and
William Waterbury as president. They chose as the
class song, “Throw out the Life Line.”

In three years the class of nine had grown to
one hundred and sixty-nine.

A large part of the money raised was given to
benevolences, though a certain percentage was giv-
en for the local expenses of the Sunday school. A
group of the members held meetings regularly at
the Infirmary and many other deeds of mercy are
accredited to the class.

A few years ago the original name was changed
to “The Men’s Bible gl._ass.”

Lo Pralle. « Philip Schneider is the only charter membersof
the class still in attendance at this date, 1937.

Emma B. Malone Bible Class

Not to be outdone by the men, on March 11,
1910, a number of the women of the Church met
and considered the advisability of organizing a class.

—83—



The women were enthusiastic, but considered care-
fully the early hour of the Sunday school and with
many home duties, would mean a real earnestness
of purpose. After due consideration the class was
organized with Emma B. Malone as teacher, Mrs.
Lois Tibbals, president, and Matilda Gallagher as
secretary. An opportunity was given for those in-
terested in this new organization to sign as charter
members and seventy women signed their names,
signifying their purpose to attend such a class, pro-
vidence permitting.

Not only the women of the Church but young
women from the school were members, and the at-
tendance was large.

The offerings of the first two Sundays of each
month were used for the support of two children in
India and the other two or three, as the case might
be, were given for local expenses of the Sunday
school and various benevolences.

After several years of teaching, Emma Malone,
owing to failing health together with many other
duties felt obliged to give over the teaching to oth-
ers. Carrie Pickerell taught acceptably for a few
years. A. Marion Pratt, Preceptress of Cleveland
Bible Institute, was a most efficient teacher for
many years.

Later it seemed best and the class was divided,
and Gertrude Cook was chosen teacher of the young
women from the Institute and Miss Pratt continuing
with the original Emma B. Malone Bible Class. The
signatures of those charter members had been neat-
1y copied and framed appropriately and were hung
in the girls’ parlor of the C. B. 1. where for many
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years the class convened. (Now in 1937 the charter
is upon the wall in the beautiful Malone Memorial
room in the new church on Melbourne Avenue.)
Sophie Burgy Hasenpflug is the present successful
teacher of this class.

When again the Church was enlarged and the
Institute was built, then the class of the Sunday
school dispersed themselves for Bible study in vari-
ous quarters of the Church and Institute.

Dillwyn C. Wistar had served a long term as
Superintendent. Earle J. Tomlinson assumed the
duties of Superintendent in 1933 in the new church.
He has the interests of the Sunday school deeply at
heart, and, with the assistance of his wife, Alberta
Tomlinson, uses every effort to make the school a
success.

The change in neighborhoods naturally resulted
in a loss in attendance, only ten in the primary de-
partment were transferred to the new location. The
average attendance at Cedar Avenue had been one
hundred and forty-one and in the new church it
dropped to ninety-one.

Young Married People’s Class

The Young Married People’s Class was organ-
ized soon after coming to the church on Melbourne
with Catherine Cattell as teacher and Howard
Thompson, president. It has a membership of over
twenty young married people. They co-operate with
the Sunday School and are most faithful in attend-
ance.

When Catherine Cattell, with her family, went
to India, Walter R. Williams, our busy pastor, ac-
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cepted the call to teach the class and is entering
whole-heartedly in the activities of the class.

The Intermediate and Primary classes are well
graded, perhaps better than ever before. The pupils
are being taught not only the Bible in connection
with their Sunday school lessons, but are having in-
stilled into them the love of home and foreign fields.

The Cradle Roll, with twenty-seven members,
is under the care of Alyce Saum, a young married
woman who dearly loves children. These little ones
are advanced to the Primary when they reach the
age of three years.

The Vacation Bible School has been the means
of reaching many children. The Sunday school be-
gan to take on numbers and in 1935 reported an av-
era